IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J	••• . W.	НІТЕ	
AUG	3	199	þ
MLERK, SU	Ar	ME) CU扒T
Depu	ly C	lerk	B h (Bearing 's

FILED

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 76,102

GARY STEPHEN BEASLEY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellee in the court below and the prosecution in the trial court. Respondent was the appellant and defendant in the courts below. The parties will be referred to as the "State" and "Beasley". The symbol "R" and page number refers to the record, volumes I through III below. A copy of the decision below is attached as an appendix to this brief.

- 1 -

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Beasley pled nolo contendere to violation of section 893.135(1)(b)1, reserving the right to appeal the denial of the motion to suppress. (R 46, R 59). At the sentencing hearing on 14 August 1989, Beasley was adjudged guilty and sentenced to a guidelines sentence of four and one-half years imprisonment. Pursuant to mandatory provisions of section 893.135(1)(b)1 he was also sentenced to a minimum three year term and a fine of \$50,000.00 plus a 5% surcharge of \$2500 pursuant to the mandatory provisions of section 960.25 (R 58). Similarly, pursuant to the mandatory terms of sections 27.3455, 943.25(3) and 960.20, respectively, Beasley was ordered to pay predesignated costs of \$200.00, \$3.00,¹ and \$20.00. (R 59) On appeal, the district court below affirmed the conviction but remanded for a determination of the ability to pay the costs pursuant to Mays v. State, 519 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1988) and Jenkins v. State, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984). Based on the arguments of the State that Jenkins should be reexamined, the district court certified the following question:

> WHETHER THE IMPOSITION OF COSTS AGAINST AN INDIGENT DEFENDANT IS DIFFERENT THAN THE COLLECTION OF THOSE COSTS MAKING THE

Apparently because of a scrivener's error, the \$3.00 cost was shown as \$5.00.

- 2 -

QUESTION OF ABILITY TO PAY PREMATURE UNTIL ATTEMPT IS MADE TO COLLECT SUCH COSTS?

Appendix A, page 3 of slip opinion.

The district court granted a petition for clarification and affirmed the five percent surcharge of \$2500.00 on the basis that it was a fine, not a cost.

3

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Consistent with the ex post facto clause, publication of the criminal offense and penalties thereof in Florida Statutes prior to the commission of the offense gave Beasley reasonable notice of the mandatory costs at issue here.

Beasley was given a fair opportunity to be heard in the guilt and sentencing phases by the standard procedures set forth in this Court's Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. This conclusion is supported by controlling case law.

Statutorily mandated and fixed costs travel with, or inhere in, a judgment of guilt. The formal imposition of such statutorily mandated costs is a non-discretionary, purely ministerial, function.

The due process opportunity to be heard does not include the right to present irrelevant evidence or argument that the trial judge refuse to perform its ministerial sentencing duties. The sentencing hearing provided by rule 3.720 afforded Beasley a due process opportunity to be heard which was appropriate to the circumstances.

This Court has consistently upheld the constitutional authority of the legislature to statutorily mandate the imposition of costs.

- 4 -

Jenkins v. State, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984), as clarified by Bull v. State, 548 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1989), does not require special notice and an additional hearing beyond the sentencing hearing afforded Beasley pursuant to rule 3.720.

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative and the decision below quashed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

BEASLEY WAS GIVEN REASONABLE NOTICE AND A FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD PURSUANT TO THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONS.

For our purposes, procedural due process consists of two components: "reasonable notice" and "a fair opportunity to be heard." <u>Goodrich v. Thompson</u>, 96 Fla. 327, 118 So. 60, 62 (1928). It is the state's position that publication of criminal offenses and the punishments thereof in the Laws of Florida or Florida Statutes, coupled with standard trial procedures in the guilt and sentencing phases, as set forth in Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, afforded Beasley procedural due process.

REASONABLE NOTICE

It is settled law that "every citizen is charged with knowledge of the domestic law of his jurisdiction." <u>Akin v.</u> <u>Bethea</u>, 33 So.2d 638, 640 (Fla. 1948). The adoption of criminal offenses and the punishment(s) thereof and their publication in the Laws of Florida and Florida Statutes gives every citizen constructive notice of the law. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 56 Fla. 107, 47 So. 816 (1909); <u>Sammis v. Bennett</u>, 32 Fla. 458, 14 So. 90 (1893). This principle of constructive notice of statutory law

- 6 -

is the foundation for the ex post facto clauses of the Florida and United States constitutions. In order to prosecute, convict and punish, the state must show that, <u>prior to the commission of the alleged offense(s)</u>, the defendant had been given "fair warning," i.e., reasonable notice, of the criminal offense(s) and the penalties thereof. <u>Weaver v. Graham</u>, 450 U.S. 24, 28, 67 L.Ed.2d 17,23, 101 S.Ct. 960 (1981). This prohibition against retroactive, i.e., unnoticed, application of penalties extends to the imposition of statutory costs. <u>State v. Malone</u>, 512 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1987) (Retroactive application of section 27.3455 violates the ex post facto clause); <u>Gianfrancisco v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (Ditto).

Under the above law, it is uncontrovertible that prior to the commission of the offense to which he pled, and necessarily at all times thereafter, Beasley had reasonable notice of the following:

1. That it was a criminal offense to traffic in cocaine contrary to section 893.135(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes.

2. That conviction of such offense was punishable by a minimum mandatory term of three years imprisonment and a mandatory fine of \$50,000.00 pursuant to section 893.135(1)(b)1 and a mandatory five percent surcharge of \$2500.00 pursuant to section 960.25, Florida Statutes.

- 7 -

3. That conviction of this or any other criminal offense would result in the mandatory imposition of costs in the fixed sums of \$200.00, \$3.00, and \$20.00 pursuant to, respectively, sections 27.3455, 943.25(3), and 960.20, Florida Statutes.

4. That upon adjudication of guilt of this or any other criminal offense, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.720, the trial judge would conduct a sentencing hearing as soon as practicable at which Beasley would have the opportunity to submit evidence and arguments relevant to the sentence and to offer legal cause why sentence should not be pronounced.

This Court has consistently upheld mandatory sentencing provisions, such as those at issue here, against due process challenges of reasonable notice. In <u>Scott v. State</u>, 369 So.2d 330, 331 (Fla. 1979), the defendant was convicted of attempted murder in the second degree. This Court tersely stated and reiterated the law on due process challenges to mandatory sentencing provisions.

> The defendant concedes that Florida courts have consistently rejected constitutional challenges to statutes which require mandatory minimum sentences to be imposed and that as a general proposition, if the sentence given is one that has been established by the legislature and is not on its face cruel and unusual, the imposition thereof will be sustained as against attacks based on due process, equal protection, separation of powers and legislative usurpation arguments. [cites omitted].

> > - 8 -

He [Scott] contends the statute does not meet constitutional muster because:

1) It does not place defendant on notice that a conviction for this crime would subject him to the penalty provisions of the statute under attack; [emphasis added]

3) The statute unconstitutionally binds trial judges to a sentencing process which wipes out any chance for a reasoned judgment;

We reject the contentions of the defendant and hold that the statute is constitutional. [cites omitted].

Id.

The rejection of contention one is directly on-point here. See, <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 237. 241 (Fla. 1980) ("Under Florida law, however, there is no requirement that a defendant be advised of any mandatory minimum sentence."). See, also, <u>Sireci v.</u> <u>State</u>, 399 So.2d 964, 970 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert. denied</u>, 456 U.S. 984, 102 S.Ct. 2257, 72 L.Ed.2d 862, where it was held that publication in Florida Statutes provided notice to defendants of the aggravating circumstances applicable to capital crimes.

Applying the above law to the instant case, it is apparent that under Florida law the requirement of the ex post facto clause that a defendant be given notice of criminal offenses and penalties thereof <u>prior to</u> the alleged commission of the offenses also serves to afford all defendants their procedural due process right of reasonable notice of crimes and penalties thereof. There is no basis for Beasley to assert that he did not have reasonable notice of the mandatory penalties at issue here.

- 9 -

FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD

Under article V, section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution, it is the responsibility of this Court to "adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts." This responsibility to adopt procedural rules for courts and the concomitant constitutional responsibility to ensure that such rules afford parties their procedural due process rights coalesce, inter alia, in Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Sentencing procedures under these rules are contained in section XIV, or, more specifically as they apply here, rule 3.720, titled Sentencing The mandatory costs and surcharge at issue here are all Hearing. contingent on a judgment of guilty at the conclusion of the guilt phase. The question for this Court is whether rule 3.720 affords Beasley, and other similarly situated, a fair opportunity to be heard on whether mandatory fixed costs and surcharges should be imposed. It is the state's position that they do and that it is not necessary for this Court to revisit and amend the rule. In determining whether this assertion is correct, the Court should note the well settled principle that procedural due process is situational, it is not a fixed set of procedures applicable in all circumstances. As the Supreme Court said in Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972):

Once it is determined that due process applies, the question remains what process

- 10 -

is due. It has been said so often by this Court and others as not to require citation of authority that due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands.

To say that the concept of due process is flexible does not mean that judges are at apply it to any and all large to Its flexibility is in its relationships. scope once it has been determined that some process is due; it is a recognition that not procedural calling situations for all safeguards kind of call for the same procedure.

Id.

Rule 3.720 requires trial judges to conduct sentencing hearings "as soon as practicable" after an adjudication of guilt. At this hearing, defendants are given an opportunity to show legal cause why sentence should not be pronounced. More significantly, the parties are given the opportunity to submit evidence and argument <u>relevant</u> to the sentence. Bearing in mind that "as soon as practicable" urges expeditious sentencing, continuances may be granted if the parties have relevant evidence or argument which for good cause cannot be immediately submitted. Denial of motions for continuance are subject to an abuse of discretion standard with its heavy deference to the trial judge's decision. Manigault v. State, 534 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

Rule 3.720 requires that parties be given the opportunity to present relevant evidence. Bearing in mind the Morrissey rule

that due process is situational, the parties at sentencing hearings are entitled to point out relevant sentencing statutes to the court and to present evidence and argument on whether such statutes are mandatory or discretionary. To the degree, if any, that sentencing statutes are discretionary, the parties are entitled to submit evidence and argument as to how that discretion should be exercised. However, neither rule 3.720 nor due process, or section 90.402 of the Florida Evidence Code, require that a court offer parties an opportunity to submit irrelevant evidence or argument urging the court to refuse to perform a ministerial duty by not imposing a statutorily mandated sentence, i.e., to urge the court to impose an illegal sentence. The imposition of mandatory penalties, whether they involve fines, surcharges, costs, or minimum terms of imprisonment, is not discretionary. Indeed, should the judge fail to impose a mandatory sentence, the sentence itself is illegal and subject to reversal and remand for resentencing. D'Alessandro v. State, 360 So.2d 774 (Fla. 1978). Reversal for imposition of a mandatory sentence does not violate double jeopardy even if the illegal sentence has commenced. Bozza v. United States of America, 330 U.S. 160, 67 S.Ct 645, 91 L.Ed 818 (1947). See, also, United States v. Purcell, 715 F.2d 561 (11th Cir. 1983) (When sentencing court discovers a sentence imposed by it does not conform to applicable statute, it has the <u>duty</u> to correct sentence even

- 12 -

though serving of first sentence has begun.) Similarly, see also, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a), "a court may at anytime correct an illegal sentence." To illustrate even more vividly the complete absence of discretion on whether to impose a mandatory penalty, even the extraordinary writ of mandamus will lie to require a trial judge to impose a mandatory sentence. D'Alessandro.

It is clear from the above that a trial judge at a sentencing hearing is not required to entertain evidence and argument calling for the illegal exercise of discretion in a non-It is also clear that neither Beasley, discretionary setting. nor any other person similarly situated, is denied due process by the imposition of mandatory costs and surcharge, as here, under sections 27.3455, 943.25(3), 960.20, and 960.25 without a special hearing, i.e., other than the sentencing hearing pursuant to rule This conclusion is also supported by reference to the 3.720. standard judgment and sentence form promulgated by this Court in The judgment portion of this form contains an rule 3.986. unequivocal preprinted order that the defendant pay court costs pursuant to sections 960.20 and 943.25(3). This imposition of costs does not require even as much as a check mark by the trial judge, the imposition automatically travels with, or inheres in, the judgment of guilt. Similarly, the judgment form contains a check mark provision for the imposition of additional costs.

This requires that the trial judge fill in the applicable sum from the schedule contained in section 27.3455 based on the offense committed, i.e., felonies - \$200.00, misdemeanors and criminal traffic offenses - \$50.00. The five percent surcharge on any fine imposed pursuant to section 960.25 appears under the sentencing portion of the form because, of course, not all criminal offenses are subject to mandatory fines and the judge must perform the mathematical calculations when a fine is imposed.

Section 3.720 permits a defendant to raise legal causes why a sentence should not be imposed. A defendant could, of course, raise a constitutional challenge to any sentencing statute, whether mandatory or discretionary. Although Beasley raised no such challenge below, or any other challenge for that matter, the state considers it prudent and relevant to point out that this Court has previously upheld the constitutional authority of the legislature to prescribe mandatory costs and surcharges, i.e., penalties, on criminal defendants convicted of either violent or nonviolent criminal offenses. See <u>State v. Champe</u>, 373 So.2d 874, 880 (Fla. 1979):

> Unlawful taxes. Appellees' remaining point, never addressed by the trial court, is that the charge imposed by Section 960.20 is not a "cost," and that the charge imposed by Section 960.25 is not a "fine," but rather that both are illegal taxes. They assert that fines must be imposed strictly as punishment for the commission of crimes, and

> > - 14 -

that costs must be expenses incident to case prosecution. The latter contention was specifically rejected in State v. Young, 238 So.2d 589 (Fla. 1970). As to the former, the five percent surcharge in Section 960.25 may quite properly be considered as a form of punishment for the offense. Punishment in the form of restitution is not a novel concept, and this form of punitive measure is valid unless so "excessive" or "harsh" as to be "plainly and undoubtedly in excess of any reasonable requirements for redressing the wrong." The five percent surcharge in the statute is reasonably and uniformly proportionate to the gravity of the offense, and therefore constitutionally sound.

Id. See, also, <u>Scott v. State</u>, 369 So.2d at 331 quoted above, "Florida courts have consistently rejected constitutional challenges to statutes which require mandatory minimum sentences to be imposed ... if the sentence given is one that has been established by the legislature and is not on its face cruel and unusual, the imposition thereof will be sustained as against attacks based on due process, equal protection, separation of powers and legislative usurpation arguments." <u>Champe</u> is also useful in that it clearly recognizes that costs, surcharges, and fines are all subsumed within penalties and are subject to the same constitutional constraints and analysis.

The limited right to be heard when the legislature mandates a particular penalty for a criminal offense, consistent with the flexible nature of due process, is also illustrated by the penalty for escape under section 944.28(1), Florida Statutes

- 15 -

(1989).This statute provides for automatic forfeiture of gaintime without notice or hearing when a prisoner is convicted of escape. This provision has been upheld against due process challenge. Morgan v. Cook, 344 So.2d 577 (Fla. 1977); Wright v. Wainwright, 359 So.2d 11 (Fla. DCA 1978); lst Hands v. Wainwright, 360 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). The last decision is noteworthy because the court articulated the rationale for the decision: "the judicial determination of guilt in the escape attempt was sufficient due process for the [mandatory] forfeiture of gain time." Id. From a constitutional due process viewpoint, the mandatory provisions of section 944.28(1) are analogous to the mandatory provisions at issue here. The mandatory costs and surcharge, just like the mandatory forfeiture of gain time, are automatically imposed upon a finding of guilty, due process has been satisfied and nothing further is required. Contrast application of the same principle in Rankin v. Wainwright, 351 F.S. 1306 (U.S.D.C. M.D. Fla. 1972), where the court, relying on Morrissey, held that where there was no adjudication of guilt the prisoner must be given due process in an administrative hearing with an opportunity to be heard.

The conclusion that rule 3.720 does not require a special hearing, beyond the routine sentencing hearing, to impose mandatory, predesignated costs is also supported by specific provisions of the rule. Rule 3.720(d) implements section 27.56,

- 16 -

Florida Statutes by providing for a cost lien to be imposed on all convicted defendants who receive the assistance of appointed counsel. The rule specifically provides that the defendant shall be given notice and an additional hearing to contest the "amount" of the lien, which, of course, cannot be determined in advance. This special provision is significant for two interrelated First, the fact that the rule requires notice and reasons. hearing only on attorney costs, and none of the other mandatory costs, brings to mind the principle of statutory interpretation that the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of all others, i.e., no other statutory costs require special notice and a hearing. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976). Second, this first principle is reinforced by the obvious distinction between the mandatory costs of sections 27.3455, 943.25(3), 960.20, 960.25, the amounts of which are fixed in advance and require no introduction of evidence, and the mandatory attorney cost lien of section 27.56 which requires the usual evidence concerning the hours expended by the attorney in defending the case in order to fix the amount of the fee. Logically, the latter requires notice and an evidentiary hearing; just as logically, the first group of fixed costs requires no hearing and no notice. This logic is confirmed by this Court's recent holding in Bull v. State, 548 So.2d 1103, 1104-1105 (Fla. 1989):

Petitioner argues that rule 3.720(d)(1) is deficient in that he must be given an opportunity to challenge the

- 17 -

imposition of any lien for the services of an appointed We disagree. Section 27.56 provides for the attornev. assessment of fees and costs as a matter of law. It is only the amount which is potentially at issue. There no constitutional bar to advising an indigent is defendant that he may be required to repay the costs of appointed counsel and to collecting those costs at some later time if the defendant becomes solvent. Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 40 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974). Further, contrary to petitioner's argument, we see no conflict with Jenkins v. State, 444 So.2d 947 where we held that notice and (Fla. 1984), an opportunity to be heard must be given and a judicial determination made that the defendant is able to pay repayment is enforced. Notice and an before to be heard have been afforded, opportunity and enforcement of the lien will require a civil action during which petitioner may show an inability to repay the debt.

Id.

Bull makes clear that there is no procedural due process right to a hearing to contest the mandatory provisions of a statute beyond those afforded in all sentencing procedures. Α special hearing is only required if the amount is at issue and the trial judge has discretion, i.e., the cost is not fixed in Moreover, relying on Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, the statute. 94 S.Ct. 2116, 40 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974), Bull makes clear that there is no constitutional bar to assessing costs against an indigent attempted until the defendant provided collection is not Federal case law following Fuller is defendant is solvent. consistent with Bull. See United States v. Pagan, 785 F.2d 378, 381 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1017, 107 S.Ct. 667, 93 L.Ed.2d 719 (1986) ("the imposition of assessments on an indigent, per se, does not offend the Constitution. Constitutional principles will be implicated here only if the government seeks to force collection of the assessments at a time when [Pagan is] unable through no fault of his own to comply"); <u>United States v. Cooper</u>, 870 F.2d 586 (11th Cir. 1989); <u>United</u> States v. Rivera-Velez, 839 F.2d 8 (1st Cir. 1988).

In connection with <u>Fuller</u>, <u>Pagan</u>, and <u>Bull</u>, it should be noted that none of the statutes at issue here mandating the assessment of costs have any provisions penalizing the indigent who is unable to pay the costs. We are not dealing with the situation condemned in <u>State v. Yost</u>, 507 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1987), <u>Mays v. State</u>, 519 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1988), and <u>Wood v. State</u>, 544 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 1989), where section 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1985), in it's previous form, not only assessed costs but contained penalty provisions preventing the convicted defendant from earning gain-time until the costs were either paid in money or community services. See Chapter 86-154, Laws of Florida, section 1, amending section 27.3455, to delete penalty provisions.

The district court below relied primarily on <u>Jenkins v.</u> <u>State</u>, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984) (<u>Jenkins II</u>). This case requires examination in light of the above analysis and <u>Bull V.</u> State, 548 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1989).

- 19 -

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