## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE **AUG 23** 1990 NK, SUPREME COURT Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 76,102

GARY STEPHEN BEASLEY,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Governmental Center/9th Floor 301 North Olive Avenue West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-2150 ALLEN J. DeWEESE Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Appellant

##

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

· · · ·

Respondent accepts the statement of the case and facts in the state's brief.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. The state is asking this Court to revisit one of the best-settled issues in Florida criminal law: the requirements of notice, opportunity to be heard, and finding of ability to pay prior to the assessment of statutory court costs. This Court has thoroughly addressed these requirements in relation to all three statutes involved in the instant case. The District Courts of Appeal have published literally hundreds of decisions following this Court's dictates. The state in the instant case has presented no good reason for overruling this long line of precedent.

B. This Court's well-settled rulings regarding costs must be applied to the five percent surcharge on fines provided by Section 960.25, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1987). The surcharge is established by the same statutory chapter as the costs and it is collected and disbursed in the same manner and for the same purpose. To treat the surcharge differently would be to place the statutes in conflict with one another, as well as to deny defendants the constitutional rights applicable to such assessments.

- 2 -

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE IMPOSITION OF COSTS AGAINST AN DEFENDANT IS DIFFERENT THAN THE INDIGENT COLLECTION OF THOSE COSTS MAKING THE QUESTION OF ABILITY TO PAY PREMATURE UNTIL ATTEMPT IS COLLECT MADE TO SUCH COSTS? **[CERTIFIED** OUESTION1.

#### A.

This certified question, as well as all of the arguments made by the state in its brief, have already been answered by this Court. The governing principles laid down by this Court have since become enshrined as settled law in literally hundreds of reported case decisions. The state's contentions in the instant case that new law has come along and that this Court should revisit the issue are futile and must be rejected by this Court.

The court costs at issue here were imposed under Sections 960.20, 943.25(4), and 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1987) (R 59). In Jenkins v. State, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984), this Court held that the costs authorized by Sections 960.20 and 943.25(4) could not be imposed without prior notice to the defendant that these costs would be assessed against him at the sentencing hearing and without a judicial determination that the defendant has the ability In Mays v. State, 519 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1988) this Court to pay. held that the same requirements apply to the costs authorized by Section 27.3455. Since those two decisions by this Court, an extraordinary number of opinions has been published reversing imposition of costs under all three statutes. Respondent finds quite plausible the state's claim (p. 25 of brief) that over 600 reversals based upon Jenkins are cited in Shephard's Florida <u>Citations</u>. Respondent would also point out that over 400 citations

- 3 -

to the costs issue appear in the indices to the <u>Florida Law Weekly</u> for just the last two and one-half years, from the 1988 Annual Index through the latest weekly index. Surely no other point of law is as well-settled in this state as the costs issue.

The state in its brief brings forth three supposed changes in the law which it urges as bases for overruling <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>Mays</u>. First, there is this Court's decision in <u>Bull v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1989). <u>Bull</u>, however, dealt not with costs under Sections 960.20, 943.25(4), or 27.3455, but rather with the assessment of attorney's fees for counsel appointed to indigent defendants. Furthermore, this Court in <u>Bull</u> addressed <u>Jenkins</u> and found no conflict between it and the decision reached in <u>Bull</u>. 548 So.2d at 1105. Plainly <u>Jenkins</u> does not require re-examination in light of <u>Bull</u>.

Second, the state urges this Court to consider three federal decisions: <u>United States v. Pagan</u>, 785 F.2d 378 (2d Cir. 1986); <u>United States v. Cooper</u>, 870 F.2d 586 (11th Cir. 1989); and <u>United States v. Rivera-Velez</u>, 839 F.2d 8 (1st Cir. 1988). However, <u>Pagan</u>, the lead case, was decided in 1986 and was therefore available when <u>Mays</u>, decided in 1988, was argued before this Court. <u>Rivera-Velez</u> and <u>Cooper</u> did little more than cite <u>Pagan</u>. Therefore, these cases present nothing new which could not have been considered by this Court in <u>Mays</u>. In fact, both <u>Mays</u> and <u>Jenkins</u> apply the controlling federal standards set forth in <u>Fuller v. Oregon</u>, 417 U.S. 40, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 40 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974).

Third, the state points out the post-<u>Mays</u> change in Section 27.3455, eliminating the statute's denial of gain time to prisoners who have not paid their assessed costs. <u>Mays</u>, however, did not

- 4 -

turn upon the gain time forfeiture provision. It merely extended <u>Jenkins</u> to Section 27.3455. Indeed, the opinion noted in footnote 2 that with the elimination of the community service option in the 1985 version of Section 27.3455, there was no longer any procedural distinction between this section and Sections 960.20 and 943.25. The changes in Section 27.3455 therefore give no reason for this Court to revisit <u>Mays</u>.

In essence the state's position here is no different than that which this Court considered in <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>Mays</u>. The state claims that the publication of the statutes themselves meets the due process requirements of notice, while an opportunity to be heard is provided by the sentencing hearing - the state would place the burden upon the defendant to object and present evidence that he should not be assessed costs even where he is not individually notified of the assessment. The state's version of due process has already been rejected by this Court. In Mays, this Court approved Gaffney v. State, 497 So.2d 1292 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), which reversed the costs assessment where the <u>record</u> failed to show that the defendant was given notice and an opportunity to object and where the court failed to make a determination that the indigent defendant had the ability to pay. If the individual record in a given case must show notice and opportunity to be heard, then the mere publication of the statutes is insufficient to meet these requirements. This Court has also previously rejected the state's attempt to place the burden to object upon the defendant. In Wood v. State, 544 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that violation of the due process requirements of <u>Jenkins</u> is fundamental error, requiring no contemporaneous objection for review.

- 5 -

The state raises the specter of a "special hearing" (p. 16 of brief) in addition to the sentencing hearing for the imposition of costs. However, no extra hearing is presently required. All that is required is notice and an opportunity to be heard meeting due process standards. There is no reason that costs cannot be assessed at the sentencing hearing as long as these requirements are met. In fact, current law requires the determination of ability to pay to be made at the time of sentencing, rather than later when payment is sought to be enforced; it is the state's view that the indigency determination may be deferred which would lead to additional burdensome hearings. In Mays this Court approved Hughes v. State, 497 So.2d 938 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). In Hughes, the court held that indigency is to be determined at the time of sentencing and that it is error not to make the determination at that point. See also Lawton v. State, 492 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1st DCA Obviously the most efficient way to deal with the costs 1986). issue is to provide notice and the opportunity to be heard at the sentencing hearing and to make the determination of ability to pay at that time. Present law requires no more and no less. The state has presented no good reason why present law should be changed.

Indeed, to change the law on this issue at this point would probably be one of the most startling rejections of precedent in Florida legal history, in view of the literally hundreds of recent published decisions following this Court's decisions in <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>Mays</u>. The issue of a few dollars in costs might appear to be of little consequence when raised over and over again on appeal. However, the real question is why the trial courts continue to impose costs in violation of this Court's clear pronouncements on

- 6 -

the subject. To cease raising the issue in the face of the trial courts' persistent disregard of the law would be to simply abandon a valid legal position and succumb to an overwhelming refusal of the courts to follow the law. This Court has viewed the issue as a substantial and serious one in its decisions on it. This Court should not retreat from those decisions; such a retreat would only give the appearance that this Court was caving in to the trial courts' refusal to follow law settled by this Court. This Court's chief concern in this case must be why there continues to be a flood of litigation occasioned by the trial courts' failure to follow the clear dictates of this Court.

#### в.

In its opinions in this case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal addressed in relation to the costs issue the five percent surcharge on fines established by Section 960.25, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1987), amounting in this case to \$2,500.00. The District Court in its first opinion discussed the costs issue without specifying the costs involved in the instant case. Respondent had argued, though, that the improperly imposed costs included the five percent surcharge (R 58). On Respondent's motion for rehearing and clarification, the court held that the surcharge was not a cost as contemplated by <u>Mays v. State</u>, 519 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1988).<sup>1</sup> The question of whether the five percent surcharge is a cost falling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In another case decided while rehearing was pending in the instant case, another panel of the District Court termed the surcharge "costs" and reversed its imposition under <u>Mays</u> and <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984). <u>Cox v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D1745 (Fla. 4th DCA July 5, 1990).

within the purview of <u>Mays</u> and <u>Jenkins</u> is therefore properly before this Court for review. Once an issue is certified to this Court, this Court then has jurisdiction over the entire case and authority to address all issues involved in it. <u>Reed v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 1382 (Fla. 1985); <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982).

The District Court on rehearing held that the five percent surcharge is a fine rather than a cost and therefore refused to reverse its imposition along with the imposition of the other statutory costs. This decision was incorrect because the surcharge is indeed a cost which must be subject to the requirements of <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>Mays</u>, discussed above under subheading A of this brief.

It appears that this Court has addressed Section 960.25 on only two occasions. In <u>State v. Champe</u>, 373 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1979), this Court upheld the five percent surcharge on criminal fines but struck it down as applied to civil penalties. In <u>LaRue v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 1981), this Court struck down the former provision of Section 960.25 imposing the surcharge upon bail bonds. In neither case did this Court exempt the statute from the requirements of <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>Mays</u>.

This Court must now hold that the five percent surcharge is subject to the dictates of <u>Jenkins</u> and <u>Mays</u> concerning notice, opportunity to be heard, and finding of ability to pay. Section 960.25 is part of the same chapter as Section 960.20, which this Court addressed in <u>Jenkins</u>. This Court can look to other sections of a statutory chapter in order to determine the intent and meaning of the specific provisions of the chapter under consideration. <u>Davies v. Bossert</u>, 449 So.2d 418, 420 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). Insofar as possible statutes must be construed in harmony with one another,

- 8 -

to avoid conflict between them, and not in isolation from other statutes on the same subject. <u>City of Boca Raton v. Gidman</u>, 440 So.2d 1277, 1282 (Fla. 1983); <u>Guarantee Trust Life Insurance</u> <u>Company v. Fundora</u>, 343 So.2d 71 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977); <u>Panama City</u> <u>Airport Board v. Laird</u>, 90 So.2d 616 (Fla. 1956). To exempt Section 960.25 from the requirements placed upon Section 960.20 by <u>Jenkins</u> would place the two sections in conflict with one another.

In addition, the proceeds of the surcharge, like the proceeds of Section 960.20, go into the Crimes Compensation Trust Fund. Section 960.21, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1987). In both <u>Champe</u> and <u>LaRue</u> the destination of the funds was crucial to the decision. <u>Champe</u> overturned the surcharge on civil penalties because the proceeds went to victims of crime. <u>LaRue</u> overturned the surcharge on bail bonds because the proceeds went to fund the Crimes Compensation Commission rather than the administration of the bail bonding process. Both the surcharge and costs involved in the instant case are destined for the same purposes and are collected in the same manner. Both therefore must be subject to the same constitutional limitations in their imposition.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests this Court to affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.